
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




MinutesMinutesMinutesMinutes
Board of Commissioners


January 10, 2013
7:00 P.M.


Notice: A complete audio recording of this meeting can be heard by accessing Fayette
County’s Website at www.fayettecountyga.gov.  Click on “Board of Commissioners”, then
“County Commission Meetings”, and follow the instructions.  The entire meeting or a single
topic can be heard.


                       
The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, met in Official Session on January 10, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. in
the Public Meeting Room of the Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall Avenue, Fayetteville, Georgia.


Commissioners Present: Steve Brown, Chairman
Charles Oddo, Vice Chairman
David Barlow
Allen McCarty
Randy Ognio


Staff Present: Steve Rapson, County Administrator
Floyd L. Jones, County Clerk
Dennis Davenport, Interim County Attorney


_______________________________________________________________________________________________


Call to Order, Invocation, and Pledge of Allegiance


Chairman Brown called the January 10, 2013 Board of Commissioners meeting to order at 7:03 p.m.


Commissioner Barlow introduced Pastor Carl Dorsey of Bethlehem Baptist Church, and asked him to offer the Invocation.
Pastor Dorsey made a few comments and then offered the Invocation.


Commissioner McCarty led the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.


Acceptance of Agenda


Commissioner Barlow moved to accept the Agenda.  Commissioner Ognio seconded the motion.  No discussion
followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


PUBLIC COMMENT:


Lee Hearn: Mr. Hearn commented on campaign promises from Commissioner David Barlow to support Commissioner
Randy Ognio for Board Chairman and to hire Mr. Bob Ross for County Administrator.  He asked for information on the
top three candidates for the County Administrator’s position, questioned a meeting between the 2013 Board of
Commissioners (prior to being sworn into office) and the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People







Minutes
January 10, 2013
Page Number 2


(NAACP), and Chairman Brown’s involvement with the NAACP.  He also questioned the Board’s intention with the West
Fayetteville Bypass and the how it would prepare the 2014 budget.  


Bob Ross: Mr. Ross began saying he appreciated Mr. Hearn’s confidence in him as County Administrator but he would
not take the job if offered to him and that he would have declined the offer.  He also commented that “Things progress,
be it a campaign or a military effort”, that he reserves the right to “get smarter”, and that he appreciated Mr. Barlow’s
flexibility since Commissioner Ognio runs his own business that takes time away from the County.  He stated that Mr.
Hearn brought up a very valid point about the budget and what direction the County would take with it.  He then
presented a chart to the Board entitled “Best Value” which compared Fayette County with some of its surrounding
jurisdictions.  After speaking of his findings, he recommended that the “Board continue the good work here in Fayette
County to maintain these high standards and improve on them, and that includes refurbishing those roads that may need
it.”  A copy of Mr. Ross’ chart, identified as “Attachment 1", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


Dawn Oparah: Ms. Dawn Oparah commented that she read in The Citizen newspaper about the previous County
Attorney, and while she was unsure about the validity of the story, she felt wiping computers clean and taking public
property was criminal.  She continued that she did not know what the Board was doing, but she thought an investigation
should be launched.  She said that when a person usually leaves their job they leave something for the person who
comes after them, and there should be no problem with being able to inspect the records since people were paid by
taxpayer’s dollars.  She repeated her hopes that there would be an investigation, and if any crime had been committed
she hoped it would be prosecuted.  


CONSENT AGENDA:


Chairman Brown asked to remove Consent Agenda Items 3-7.  Commissioner Ognio asked to remove Consent Agenda
Item 8.


Commissioner Oddo moved to approve Consent Agenda Items 1, 2, and 9.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the
motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


1. Approval of Chairman Steve Brown’s nomination of Commissioner David Barlow to serve on the Fayette
County Board of Health.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 2", follows these minutes and
is made an official part hereof


2. Approval of staff’s request to adjust the County’s travel expense rate from 45.51 cents to 46.33 cents
per mile effective January 1, 2013.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 3", follows these
minutes and is made an official part hereof.


3. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award annual Bid #860 to Con South, Inc. as the primary vendor
and to Bulkhaulers, Inc. as the secondary vendor for dump truck hauling services, in an aggregate
amount not to exceed $150,000.00, and authorization for the Chairman to sign the contract and related
documents contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


Chairman Brown moved to approve annual bid award #860 to Con South, Inc. as primary vendor and to
Bulkhaulers, Inc. as the secondary vendor for dump truck hauling services for calendar year 2013 with the
exception that none of these items are used for the West Fayetteville Bypass.  







Minutes
January 10, 2013
Page Number 3


Commissioner Ognio said he wanted to make a change to Consent Agenda Item #3, saying he wanted to see
it approved as staff recommended if fuel is at or above $3.50 a gallon, but he added that if fuel costs drop below
$3.50 a contract should be in place with Mar Trucking.  He said this arrangement would save Fayette County
money.


Chairman Brown accepted Commissioner Ognio’s amendment to approve staff’s recommendation if fuel is at
or above $3.50 a gallon and to have a contract with Mar Trucking should fuel costs drop below $3.50 a gallon.
Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion and amendment.


Chairman Brown restated the motion to award the bid to Con South, Incorporated as primary vendor and to
Bulkhaulers, Inc. for gas prices $3.50 and above and to Mar Trucking for gas prices below $3.50, and for none
of the items to be used for the West Fayetteville Bypass.  Discussion followed clarifying the motion and
amendment.  


Commissioner Barlow noted that the Chairman commented that none of the material would be used for the
West Fayetteville Bypass, and he asked about areas that have already been graded and if a broad statement
could be made that none of the material would be used for the West Fayetteville Bypass.  He said he would
be concerned that a project would be left half completed.  Chairman Brown replied that, if needed, the Board
could readdress the issue, but it needed time to review the projects.  Commissioner Oddo said he also wanted
to reassess the West Fayetteville Bypass.  


The motion to award the bid to Con South, Incorporated as primary vendor, to Bulkhaulers, Inc. for gas prices
$3.50 and above, to Mar Trucking for gas prices below $3.50, and for none of the items to be used for the West
Fayetteville Bypass passed unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 4", follows these
minutes and is made an official part hereof.


4. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award annual Bid #861 to Hanson’s Aggregates of Tyrone for
the purchase of eight different virgin stone products and to Stephen’s Rock & Dirt, Inc. for the purchase
of five recycled stone sizes, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $200,000.00, and authorization for
the Chairman to sign the contract and related documents contingent upon the County Attorney’s
review.


Chairman Brown moved to approve the Bid #861 with the exception that it not be used for the West Fayetteville
Bypass.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed
unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 5", follows these minutes and is made an official
part hereof.


5. Approval of staff’s recommendation to approve Bid #864, awarding two separate annual contracts to
Seaco, Inc., for the purchase of CR-2h Emulsion, and authorization for the Chairman to sign the
contracts and related documents contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


Chairman Brown moved to approve Bid #864 with the exception that it not be used for the West Fayetteville
Bypass.


Commissioner Ognio amended the motion for the bid cost not to exceed $45,000.00, by noting that the “not
to exceed” amount was left off of the agenda.   Chairman Brown accepted the amendment to the motion.
Commissioner McCarty approved the motion and the amendment.  No further discussion followed. 







Minutes
January 10, 2013
Page Number 4


The motion to approve Bid #864 with the exception that it not be used for the West Fayetteville Bypass, and
that it should not exceed $45,000.00 passed unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment
6", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


6. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award annual Bid #865 to Atlanta Paving & Concrete
Construction, Inc. for asphalt milling services to be used on various projects, in an amount not to
exceed $250,000.00, and authorization for the Chairman to sign the contract and related documents
contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


Chairman Brown moved to approve Bid #865 with the exception that it not be used for the West Fayetteville
Bypass.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion. 


Commissioner Ognio commented that it appeared there were only two bids received on this item, and he hope
that in the future there would be an effort to work together to figure out what was needed to receive more bids
in order to save money for Fayette County.


The motion to approve Bid #865 with the exception that it not be used for the West Fayetteville Bypass passed
unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 7", follows these minutes and is made an official
part hereof.


7. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award Bid #866 for dust control on gravel roads to South Eastern
Road Treatment, for the application of calcium chloride, in the amount of $2,978.00 per mile, in an
amount not to exceed $60,000.00, and authorization for the Chairman to sign the contract and related
documents contingent upon the County Attorney’s review.


Chairman Brown moved to approve Bid #866 under the provision that it not be used for the West Fayetteville
Bypass.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion.


Commissioner Ognio commented that there was only one bid on this item, that after reviewing the records it
appeared to him that the recommended company has “really slaughtered the competition in the past” so the
other competition appears discouraged.  He said there should be an effort to obtain competition on this item
in the future.


 The motion to approve Bid #866 under the provision that it not be used for the West Fayetteville Bypass passed
unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 8", follows these minutes and is made an official
part hereof.


8. Approval of the Sheriff’s recommendation to purchase and install a Stage 1 Vapor Recovery System,
as required by the Georgia Department of Natural Resources’ Environmental Protection Division, and
further authorization to utilize $4,600.00 of the General Fund’s Unassigned Fund Balance to pay this
expense.


Commissioner Ognio asked if there would be bids on this item.  County Administrator Rapson replied that, due
to the nature of the request involving an environmental issue and since the Natural Resources’ Environmental
Protection Division involved, that he would recommend passage of the item as an emergency purchase.







Minutes
January 10, 2013
Page Number 5


Commissioner McCarty moved to Consent Agenda Item 8.  Commissioner Oddo seconded the motion.  No
discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 9",
follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


9. Approval of the Water Committee’s recommendation to continue the Metropolitan North Georgia
Planning District Toilet Rebate Program and to allocate an additional $50,000 to the program.  A copy
of the request, identified as “Attachment 10", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


NEW BUSINESS:


10. Consideration of a sub-lease contract between the Fayette County Development Authority and the City
of Fayetteville, Mainstreet Tourism Association for the space vacated by the Chamber of Commerce on
the first floor of the Historic County Courthouse.


Chairman Brown informed the audience that the Board had two documents on the dais.  He said the first was
a form entitled “Lease Agreement by Main Street Tourism Association from Fayette County Development
Authority”, dated January 10, 2013, provided by the County Attorney.  He continued that the second document
had four pages from Mr. Matt Forshee in terms of contract changes that he wanted to see.


Mr. Matt Forshee, President and CEO of the Fayette County Development Authority, and Mr. Brian Wismer of
the City of Fayetteville, Mainstreet Tourism Association spoke briefly about this request and their functions.


Commissioner Oddo pointed out that the previous amount of rental income was $20,000.00, but it reduced to
$6,000.00.  He asked how the parties came up with the $6,000.00 amount.  Mr. Wismer replied that the
$6,000.00 figure was derived by looking at the available budget and that Mainstreet Fayetteville is not currently
paying rent at the Train Depot; since it is city property.  He pointed out that others were interested in the
location but who did not offer to pay anything.  


Chairman Brown read following changes to the contract into the record:


1) The end date originally in the contract reads “December 31, 2033.”  It will change to “August 31, 2026.


2) The original contract reads “Mainstreet Tourism Association will operate a Welcome Center for six
hours a day, five days a week.”  It will change to “Mainstreet Tourism Association will do its absolute
best to offer a Welcome Center on-site eight hours a day, five days a week.


3) Page 6 of the original contract, Section 14, Line One should read: “Landlord and/or the Building Owner
will keep the building insured against.”


4) Page 6 of the original contract, Section 14, Line Three should read: “Coverage for tenant’s personal
property, and will maintain general liability”.


5) Page 7 of the original contract, on Line Eight should read: “Otherwise for any damages sustained by
tenant or any invited guests of the tenant.”


Chairman Brown moved to approve the sub-lease contract with the following changes read into the record.
Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion.







Minutes
January 10, 2013
Page Number 6


Commissioner Barlow asked if it would be prudent to have “the legal department” sign off on the sub-lease.
Chairman Brown replied the attorney already reviewed it and the proposed changes.  County Administrator
Rapson suggested that the motion should include a comment in regards to “with final legal approval” in case
there is something that was missed in the actual motion.


Chairman Brown amended his motion to include that approval of the sub-lease contract is based on final legal
approval and that the Chairman be given the authority to sign the contract.  Commissioner McCarty repeated
his second to the motion and amendment.  


The motion to approve the sub-lease contract with the changes read into the record based on final legal
approval and for the Chairman to be given the authority to sign the contract passed unanimously.  A copy of
the request and approved contract with approved changes, identified as “Attachment 11", follow these minutes
and are made an official part hereof.


11. Discussion of appointing the 2013 Fayette County Legislative Coordinator.


Commissioner Barlow moved that the new County Administrator, Mr. Steve Rapson, be the Fayette County
Legislative Coordinator.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion
passed unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 12", follows these minutes and is made
an official part hereof.


12. Consideration of Commissioner David Barlow’s recommendation that members of the Fayette County
Board of Commissioners be subject to random drug testing in the same manner required of Fayette
County employees.


Commissioner Barlow commented that when he was processing the paperwork to become a Fayette County
Commissioner, he questioned when he would need to take a drug test since every job he has taken required
drug tests of each new employee.  He said he was simply volunteering to take a drug test, and he was told that
elected officials are exempt from drug tests.  He continued that, similar to the United States Congress passing
laws and exempting themselves, he did not want to appear that was above the law.  He said he later learned
that elected officials are somewhat insulated from drug testing, and that if he had known that earlier he would
not have placed this item on the agenda.  He explained that, currently, required random drug tests would have
to be permitted by the General Assembly and then all County Commissioners throughout Georgia would have
to agree to it.  Commissioner Barlow then said he was considering going to a private company and getting
publically tested, and that he would publish those results in the local papers.  Chairman Brown and some of
the other Commissioners expressed they would join Commissioner Barlow.  Commissioner Barlow summarized
that the point of the matter is that the Board is not above the law.  The Board took no action on this item.  A
copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 13", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


13. Consideration to approve an employment contract between Fayette County, Georgia and Mr. Steve
Rapson appointing Mr. Rapson as Fayette County Administrator.


Chairman Brown moved to move New Business Agenda Item 13 to the front of the Consent Agenda.
Commissioner Oddo seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.







Minutes
January 10, 2013
Page Number 7


Chairman Brown stated that the Board had a few contracts with them at the dais.  He said one version was an
edited version showing edits with blue lines, and he referred to it as the “blue line edited copy.”  He said there
was another copy that was edited with red lines, and he called it the “red line edited copy.”  He said the Board
had a third contract without editing, and he called it the “clean, final copy.”  He reiterated that the Board had
three copies of the contract on the dais.


Commissioner Oddo moved to accept the contract with the corrections.  Commissioner Barlow seconded the
motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


Chairman Brown invited Mr. Rapson to sit at the staff’s table as the new County Administrator, congratulated
him, and welcomed him to the team.  He added that Mr. Rapson brings a lot of intense experience at all levels
and has a strong background in government finance.  A copy of the request and approved contract, identified
as “Attachment 14", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORTS:


Administrator Steve Rapson: County Administrator Steve Rapson said he appreciated the opportunity to be the County
Administrator and that he looked forward to working and learning all department heads and helping the Board implement
its vision for the County.


ATTORNEY’S REPORTS:


Announcement of Executive Session: Interim County Administrator Dennis Davenport reported that he had two items
for Executive Session involving pending litigation and one item involving threatened litigation, for a total of three items.


COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS:


Commissioner McCarty: Commissioner McCarty reminded the audience that he previously announced that the Board
would eventually stream its meetings on the internet and air them on Channel 23. He said the work is progressing on
the project, but there is no budget available. He said the equipment was expensive, that he was looking at some people
to donate equipment, and that he anticipated streaming on the internet and being on Channel 23 within six weeks.  He
closed saying he retired from broadcast and television and that one of his goals was to be on television.


Commissioner Barlow: Commissioner Barlow responded to Mr. Lee Hearn’s comments about promises he made both
while he was running for Commissioner and after he was elected.  


Commissioner Ognio: Commissioner Randy Ognio publically welcomed Mr. Rapson.  He said Fayette County was very
fortunate to have such a talented person for the position and it was very fortunate that he came to serve the County.


Commissioner McCarty: Commissioner Allen McCarty added that the previous Commission Board determined that the
Commissioner Reports could be about anything, including their duck hunting or golf game if that is what they wanted
to talk about.  He told everyone that the Commissioner Reports are still wide open for a Commissioner to say things that
some people may not agree with.  He said it would be part of the report process and most of the time it will be of items
that are totally relevant to what the citizens need to know and have to know.  He also thanked the audience for coming
to the meeting.







Minutes
January 10, 2013
Page Number 8


Chairman Brown: Chairman Brown responded to Ms. Oparah’s comments saying the County held an investigation and
that the Marshal’s report can be obtained from the County Clerk.  He then informed everyone that he was looking to form
a committee regarding what the County should do with the old jail facility, and he reminded everyone that the County
has been pondering the facility for years, that nothing was in the facility, and that the facility is quickly becoming
unusable.  He continued that the Board is at a juncture where a decision would have to be made about the old jail facility,
and he would start working on forming the committee if no one objected.  No objection was raised.


Public Facilities Authority, Region Six Mental Health Board, and Library Board: Chairman Brown explained that
openings were available on several boards, authorities and commissions, and he asked for a Commissioner to work with
the appropriate staff member to fill those appointments.  He pointed out that the County had publically advertised the
open positions and received a number of applications.


Commissioner Ognio agreed to work with the applications for the Public Facilities Authority, Commissioner McCarty
agreed to work on open positions for the Region Six Mental Health Board, and Commissioner Barlow agreed to review
the applications for the Library Board.


EXECUTIVE SESSION:


Legal Items:  Chairman Brown moved to recess into Executive Session for three legal items, two pending and one
threatened.  Commissioner Barlow seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


The Board recessed into Executive Session at 7:52 p.m. and returned to Official Session at 8:18 p.m.


Return to Official Session:  Chairman Brown moved to exit Executive Session and reconvene into the regular meeting.
Commissioner Ognio seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.


Executive Session Affidavit: Chairman Brown moved to give the Chairman to give the authority to sign the Executive
Session Affidavit stating the Board discussed two pending legal items and one threatened legal item.  Commissioner
McCarty seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously


ADJOURNMENT:


Commissioner Barlow moved to adjourn the January 10, 2013 Board of Commissioners meeting.  Commissioner
McCarty seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


___________________________________                               __________________________________________
      Floyd L. Jones, County Clerk                                                     Steve Brown, Chairman


The foregoing minutes were duly approved at an official meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County,
Georgia, held on the 24th day of January 2013.


___________________________________
        Floyd L. Jones, County Clerk








AgendaAgendaAgendaAgenda
Board of Commissioners


January 24, 2013
 7:00 P.M.


Call to Order Invocation, and Pledge of Allegiance


Acceptance of Agenda


PUBLIC HEARING:


1. Consideration of Petition 1225-12, Gregory H. Moody, Jr. and Brenda K.
Moody, Owners, and Lynette M. Bowles, Agent, request to rezone 2.49
acres from A-R: Agricultural-Residential to A-R (LNS): Agricultural-
Residential (Legal Nonconforming Status) to bring said property inot
zoning compliance.  This property is located at 250 Rising Star Road and
also fronts on Old Greenville Road.


PUBLIC COMMENT:


CONSENT AGENDA:


2. Approval of staff’s request to amend an architectural, engineering, and
interior design services contract with The Howell Group by approving
Change Order #1, in the amount of $4,800.00, and authorization for the
Chairman to sign the Change Order contingent upon the County Attorney’s
review.


3. Approval of the Water Committee’s 2013 Meeting Schedule.


4. Approval of the Water Committee’s recommendation to insert a letter into
the February water bills informing customers about current water
restrictions.


5. Approval of the Water Committee’s recommendation to prepare a
Resolution to swap twenty-two (22) Fayette County Water System
customers with twenty (20) City of Fayetteville Water Department
customers.


6. Approval of a request from the Honorable Ann Jackson to install a service
window in the Justice Center Lobby to accommodate separation of
passport services and adopt a budget amendment to increase revenues
and expenditures for this project in an amount not to exceed $1,500.00.


7. Approval of the January 2, 2013 Board of Commissioners Minutes and the
January 10, 2013 Board of Commissioners Minutes.


BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS


Steve Brown, Chairman
Charles Oddo, Vice Chairman


David Barlow
Allen McCarty
Randy Ognio


i


STAFF


Steve Rapson, County Administrator
Floyd L. Jones, County Clerk


Dennis Davenport, Interim County
Attorney


i


MEETING LOCATION
Public Meeting Room
Administrative Complex
140 Stonewall Avenue
Fayetteville, GA 30214


i


MEETING TIMES
2nd and 4th Thursday each month 7:00 pm


i


COMMISSION OFFICE
Administrative Complex


Suite 100
140 Stonewall Avenue
Fayetteville, GA 30214
Phone: 770.305.5200
Fax: 770.305.5210


i


WEB SITE


www.fayettecountyga.gov


i


E-MAIL


administration@fayettecountyga.gov







Agenda
January 24, 2013
Page Number 2


OLD BUSINESS:


8. Consideration of staff’s recommendation to renew Proposal No. P764 to Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc. to
conduct post-closure environmental monitoring and compliance activities at the two closed Fayette County
solid waste facilities on First Manassas Mile Road for a 12-month period, in an amount not to exceed
$73,570.00.


NEW BUSINESS:


9. Consideration of staff’s recommendation to recodify Fayette County’s Ordinances through Municipal Code
Corporation, in the amount of $22,950.00 to be funded from the General Fund’s Unassigned Fund Balance,
and authorization for the Chairman to sign a contract or related documents contingent upon the County
Attorney’s review.


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORTS:


ATTORNEY’S REPORTS:


COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS:


ADJOURNMENT:








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Administration County Administrator Steve Rapson


Consideration of staff's recommendation to recodify Fayette County's Ordinances through Municipal Code Corporation, in the amount of 


$22,950.00 to be funded from the General Fund's Unassigned Fund Balance, and authorization for the Chairman to sign a contract or 


related documents contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


The Fayette County Code of Ordinances was last codified  through Ordinances Number 2007-04 which was adopted by the Board of 


Commissioners on March 22, 2007.  Fayette County's codified ordinances are accessible from Municode's website at http://library.


municode.com/index.aspx?clientId=11841. 


 


Since 2007, Fayette County has passed and provided to Municipal Code Corporation (also referred to as "Municode") 57 additional 


ordinances.  Those 57 ordinances are also accessible at the Municode website. 


 


On December21, 2012, Municode provided Fayette County a base cost Recodification Quote, in order to recodify Fayette County's 


Ordinances, in the amount of $22,950.00.  This base cost may increase if certain items, which are not included in the base quote such as 


additional pages, graphics and tablular matter, and additional copies, are desired.  Related costs for these additional features are 


included in the documentation provided by Municode.   


 


Funding to recodify the county's ordinances has not been budgeted, so it is recommended that funding for this request be provided from 


the General Fund's Unassigned Fund Balance.


Consideration of staff's recommendation to recodify Fayette County's Ordinances through Municipal Code Corporation, in the amount of 


$22,950.00 to be funded from the General Fund's Unassigned Fund Balance, and authorization for the Chairman to sign a contract or 


related documents contingent upon the County Attorney's review.


Fayette County has a base quote to recodify the ordinances in the amount of $22,950.00.  It is recommended that the General Fund's 


Unassigned Fund Balance be utilized for this request.


No


No Yes


Yes


Not Applicable Yes


New BusinessThursday, January 24, 2013











2 
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 


 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..................................................................................... 3 
 
SCOPE OF WORK .............................................................................................. 4 
 
RECODIFICATION QUOTATION SHEET ........................................................... 7 
 
SUPPLEMENT SERVICE ................................................................................... 9 
 
ADDITIONAL SERVICES .................................................................................. 10 
 
SUPPLEMENT SERVICE QUOTATION SHEET ............................................... 11 
 


QUALIFICATION OF MUNICODE ..................................................................... 14 
 


WEBSITE SERVICES ....................................................................................... 16 
 


TESTIMONIALS ................................................................................................ 20 
 
 







3 
 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Municipal Code Corporation (Municode) was founded in 1951 and offers services to local governments 
nationwide.  We have published more than 3,500 Codes.  With more than 60 years of experience, Municode has 
fine-tuned its operations to offer the most efficient and affordable codification and publishing services available.  
From creating or updating a Code to shipping a Supplement to posting the content on-line, Municode assures the 
fastest, most accurate delivery of codification services.  We work hard to maintain the high level of service our 
Clients have come to expect. 
 
Understanding Your Needs 
 


Our service depends on fully understanding your unique needs, and begins with our first contact.  While the Sales 
staff works with more than 3,500 accounts, we do so one person at a time.  Municode is a family-owned, medium 
sized business, which means our clients receive a level of personal service unparalleled in the industry.  At the 
same time, we also have the resources to handle complex custom issues.  Our size also allows us to provide 
extra editorial and technological resources a smaller firm can’t offer.  Our most valuable assets are our clients and 
our reputation.  We earn our reputation by offering helpful suggestions and solutions for your unique situation. 
  
Applying our Experience 
 


The average tenure of Municode’s attorneys is 20 years.  Each attorney is responsible for only one project per 
month, so you will have their undivided attention.  They have access to the Westlaw database for researching 
state law, and are familiar with the issues unique to municipal law.  We receive approximately 4,000 ordinances 
each month; this scale allows us to leverage the experience of other local governments for your benefit.  In many 
states, we provide State Law Pamphlets to notify our Clients of changes in State Laws affecting local 
governments.  Lastly, we moderate a Listserv for the exclusive benefit of Municipal Attorneys.  The Listserv 
includes more than 600 municipal attorneys, and your attorney can join for free. 
 
Using Technology for Your Benefit 
 


Municode focuses on technology that benefits our customers.  We have created products that are affordable and 
meet the ever-changing needs of our clients.  Municode handles all electronic services in-house.  We offer all 
format/database options (HTML, RTF, PDF, XML), and all choices of media (CD, download, e-mail.).  We 
consider technology a “core competency” and are committed to staying abreast of technology for your benefit.  
Municode provides electronic products that provide a variety of ways citizens and staff can access the Code.  
Web access is supported for industry standard browsers on PC and Mac platforms.  Additionally, the website 
recognizes when a visitor is interfacing from a mobile device and automatically changes the view to a “mobile-
friendly mode.”  Future developments will make the experience of visitors even more efficient and productive, 
though these tools may be sold as a Premium service.   Municode.com meets all Priority 1 checkpoints under the 
W3C's Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 1.0 Specification (WCAG). 
 
Association Support 
 


Municode supports many Clerk, Attorney, Municipal and County Associations, additionally we partner with the 
International Institute of Municipal Clerks and International Municipal Lawyers Association to provide services to 
their members.  Our Vice President of Sales, Dale Barstow, is the President of the Municipal Clerks Education 
Foundation.  All of this support is motivated by our desire to “give back” to the people who have made us 
successful, as well as our goal to stay close to our Clients.  Municode is keenly interested in assisting you with 
your needs and we feel our focus, company and personnel perfectly match your goals.  We appreciate your 


interest and look forward to your review of the rest of our information.   
 







4 
 


SCOPE OF WORK 
 
MUNICIPAL CODE CORPORATION, a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
Florida, hereinafter referred to as Municode, hereby offers to perform codification services for the FAYETTE 
COUNTY, GEORGIA, hereinafter referred to as Client.   
 
Municode will research, edit, index and publish (both in print and electronically) the finally enacted legislation 
Client specifies for inclusion in the Code. 
 
1. Material.  The following sections describe the nature of material included or excluded in the project, returning 
an archival copy to the Client and adding material to the on-line collection. 
 


a. Included Ordinances.  All legislation of a general and permanent nature, passed in final form by the 
Client, as of the cut off date established by the Municode attorney (usually following delivery of the Legal 
Manuscript) will be included in the new Code.  Municode prefers the material in an editable electronic 
form, and will rely upon the electronic media during the codification process when furnished electronically.  
However, materials are not required to be furnished in electronic form and can be provided as a printed 
copy.  All material received by Municode will be acknowledged via e-mail to establish a record of included 
ordinances.  Research of minutes can be provided as agreed upon by the Client and Municode.   
 


b. Omitted Ordinances.  Legislation not of a general and permanent nature will be omitted from the Code 
unless otherwise instructed by Municode or the Client.  Examples of such legislation include:  
Appropriations; Franchises; Bonds; Vacating Streets and Other Public Properties; Sales of Surplus 
Assets and Properties; Tax Levies; Special Elections; Contracts and Agreements; Rezoning; Personnel 
Regulations; Annexations and Disannexations; Tax Anticipated Notes and Issuances of Similar Debt 
Instruments; Appointments of Named Individuals to Positions within a Governmental Body; 
Comprehensive Master Plans, Traffic Schedules, and Fee Schedules (however, Fee Schedules can be 
provided for an additional fee – quotation upon request). 
 


c. Archived Material.  All Ordinances submitted to Municode can be scanned and integrated with a run-
time version of the document management software, Laserfiche, and returned to the Client on a CD.   
 


d. Additional Content.  Additional material can be posted on-line along with the new Code.  Such material 
will be excluded from the research, editing and print publication process, but fully searchable on-line.  
Examples of additional content include: Administrative Rules & Regulations; Policy and Procedure 
Manuals; and Forms required for applications or to apply for permits or licenses. 


 
2. Supplementing Existing Code during Codification.  Municode can provide Supplementation Services, 
electronic options and web hosting for the existing Code while the codification project is underway.  Electronic 
options include providing Electronic Updates in lieu of Printed Supplements.  All service options are described in 
greater detail in the Supplement Service portion of the proposal. 
 
3. Legal and Editorial Work.  Municode will assign a team, consisting of a lead attorney, editor, proofreader 
and indexer, to the project.  All recommendations by this legal team are intended for use by the Client’s attorney 
and should not be considered legal advice.  This legal team is responsible for the following: 
 


a. Research and Review.  Municode will research all legislation submitted by the Client against the State 
Constitution, State Law, the Charter (if the Client has adopted one); additionally, the ordinances are 
compared to other ordinances to determine if there are any inconsistencies or conflicts within the 
legislation itself.  Zoning and Land Use provisions will be reviewed only if included in the Code.  
Ordinances enacted, or added, subsequent to the date of this agreement, or items not contemplated 
within the scope of service, may be added at the additional page rate. 
 


b. Structure.  Municode will suggest a structure and organization for the Code and provide a Table of 
Contents indicating said structure.  Municode will assume the existing Code organization is to remain 
intact unless discussed with our attorney and approved by the Client. 
 
 
 







5 
 


c. Legal Manuscript.  Municode will submit a legal manuscript for the Client’s review.  This manuscript will 
reflect the Municode attorney’s legal review and will embed the attorney’s comments and questions within 
text of the Code as “Comments” or “Footnotes.”  The legal manuscript will be provided in electronic form, 
though a printed copy will be provided upon request.   
 


d. Conference.  Municode will conduct a conference, either in person, via telephone or webinar, to review 
the legal manuscript.  All interested personnel may be included; but the Client’s attorney and Clerk are 
essential.  Issues discovered during the legal research will be discussed at the conference, with agreed 
upon solutions noted in the legal manuscript.  The Client’s attorney has the final decision making authority 
for resolution of issues brought up at the Conference or “footnoted” in the Legal Manuscript. 
 


e. References.  Municode will provide State Law references within the Code. Additional references, such as 
editor’s notes, reserved sections, and referenced materials, will be provided as appropriate.  Cross 
references within the Code will be hyperlinked in the on-line version.   
 


f. Editing.  Municode will edit the text of the Code to reflect proper grammar and stylistic consistency.  
Municode will not reword any provision that changes the substantive intent of the Code, unless the Client 
approves the revision.  However, non-substantive revisions to improve readability are a part of the 
codification process.   
 


g. Proofreading.  Municode will proofread the Code prior to submitting proofs.  The text will be reviewed for 
sense, structure and to ensure the implementation of the decisions by the Client and Municode’s attorney 
are correct. 
 


h. Page Format Options.  Municode will review page composition format options, such as font type (e.g. 
Times, Helvetica, New Century Schoolbook, Avant-Garde Demi, Courier, Palatino, Helvetica Narrow, 
Century Gothic and Arial-MT) font size (10, 11, 12 point) page layout (single or double column), graphics 
appearance and placement, with the Client.  We will help you choose a format that result in a professional 
document that is easily researched.  Sample page formats will be provided for review and selection. 
 


i. Index and Tables. Municode will create a hierarchical, subject matter index and all tables (Contents, 
State Law Reference, Prior Code Comparison, Ordinance Disposition, Supplement History) for the Code 
as necessitated by the materials.  Additional tables required by the Client, such as a schedule of fees, 
can be created or manipulated for an additional hourly fee.  
 


j. Graphics.  Municode will add the graphics provided by the Client in a usable (preferably their native) 
format and insert them into the printed and electronic versions of the Code.  Manipulation, enhancement, 
reformatting of any graphic supplied by the Client will be performed based upon an additional hourly fee.  
 


k. Adopting Ordinance.  Municode will provide an Adopting Ordinance upon completion of the project. 
 


4. Proofs.  After editing and proofreading, proofs incorporating solutions captured in the legal manuscript will be 
delivered to the Client.  The proofs are an updated legal manuscript indicating agreed upon changes as decided 
by the Client.  The proofs will have been edited and proofread, though they will not contain all of the tables and 
the subject matter index and will not be in final form for printing.  A sample of the finished Code format will also be 
provided.   
 
Municode guarantees typographical correctness.  Any errors attributable to Municode will be corrected at no 
charge during the term of this Agreement.  Municode’s liability for all services shall extend only to correcting the 
errors in the Code and subsequent updates, not to any acts or occurrences as a result of such errors, and only as 
long as the contract is in effect. 
 
5. Delivery of Code.  A summary of features available on municode.com follow.  For a more detailed 
explanation see the page titled “Website Services” at the end of this proposal. 
 


a. Electronic Format and Delivery Options.  The new Code can be delivered in a variety of electronic 
formats and mediums.  Supported formats include HTML, PDF, RTF, XML and integrated with the 
dtSearch Engine.  Electronic delivery mediums include posting on-line, CD and download (FTP). 
 







6 
 


b. Electronic Features and Tools.  The Code integrated with dtSearch (either posted on municode.com or 
delivered on CD or download as MuniCode Desktop) will have the following tools available to the user, 
search (simple and Boolean), ranked hit list, search history, print / save selected sections, e-mail selected 
sections (on-line only), expandable Table of Contents, automatic conversion to “mobile-friendly mode” 
when viewed from a hand held device, ability to link to individual sections from external content and 
customization of banner to match Client’s website design. 
 


c. Printing and Binding.  The number of copies needed by the Client will be printed on acid-free paper in 
the chosen format.  Color printing is available at an additional charge.  Standard binding for the Code is 
three-post, expandable, black, leatherette binders with gold, silver or white stamping.   Alternate binders, 
such as D-ring or polyvinyl, are available.  The following binder colors are available:  Brittany blue, deep 
green, maroon and semi-bright black.  A Seal or logo can be added in addition to the text on the front and 
spine of the binder, if desired.  Divider tabs for each major section of the Code and Index are also 
provided.   


 
Our paper vendor is chain-of-custody certified with the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC), Sustainable 
Forest Initiative (SFI) and Programme for Endorsement of Forest Certification schemes (PEFC). 
 


6. Client Responsibility.  The Client agrees to: 
 


a. Amendatory Legislation.  The Client shall immediately forward all adopted legislation (including 
amendments, the Charter, Special Acts and other pertinent rules and regulations having the effect of law) 
to be codified on a continual basis.  Submission should be timely and can be sent in electronic or printed 
form. 
 


b. Review Legal Manuscript.  The Client shall review the Legal Manuscript and modify and/or approve the 
proposed Table of Contents and organization of the Code, page format, font type and size, approve 
number of copies to be printed, binder colors and choice of electronic format and medium. 
 


c. Participation of Attorney. Ensure the Client’s Attorney and other interested personnel attend and 
participate in the project, including on-site or teleconference and review of the proofs. 
 


d. Submission of data.  The Client shall provide data, graphics and tables of the highest reproducible 
quality, preferably in their original, electronic format.  Provide a black and white line art seal or logo for the 
binders, if desired. 
 


e. Proofs.  The Client will review and return the proofs within 45 days of receipt.  Changes to the text should 
be marked directly on the proofs.  Please note delaying the return of proofs can delay the project.  
Changes not discussed at conference, and deletions / additions constituting more than 5% of the total to 
the proofs may result in a proof update fee. Should the Client fail to return proofs within five (5) months, 
the balance of the contract shall become due and payable.  Additional copies of proofs can be provided 
upon request.   







7 
 


RECODIFICATION QUOTATION SHEET FOR 
FAYETTE COUNTY, GEORGIA 


 
Base Cost (including Zoning, Subdivision and Sign Ordinances) $22,950 
 
Includes: 


 Receipt, review and organization of materials 


 Legal Work 


 One on-site conference 


 Preparation of Legal Manuscript 


 Implementation of approved legal findings 


 Updating State Law References 


 Editing 


 Page formatting (make selections below) 


 Proofreading 


 Indexing 


 Creation of Tables
1
 


 1 copy
2
, to include Binder and tabs (select binder color below) 


 Adopting Ordinance 


 Code on Internet, (existing order) 


 Base number of pages 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Elections to be made applying to the above project: 
 


 Font - New Century Schoolbook will be used as the font unless otherwise indicated.  Other choices 
include Helvetica, Times New Roman, Avant-Garde Demi, Courier, Palatino, Helvetica Narrow, Century 
Gothic and Arial-MT 


 Page Format  -  Please circle one (Single Column or Double Column) 


 Font Size - 11 point is recommended; 10 and 12 point are available. 


 Binder Color – Please circle one (Brittany Blue, Deep Green, Semi-Bright Black, Maroon)  


 Stamping Color for Binder – Please circle one (Gold, Silver, White) 
 
Items not included in Base cost: 
 


 Additional pages over the base or material amended or added after conference 
o 8 ½ x 11 inches, single column, per page $19 
o 8 ½ x 11 inches, double column, per page $23 


 Graphics
3
 & Tabular


4
 matter $10 


 Additional Copies/Binders/Tabs Quotation upon request 


 Freight Actual freight 


 State Sales Tax  If applicable 


 
 
 


                                            
1 The following Tables will be created and are included in the Base Cost: Supplement History Table, Code Comparative Table, State 
Law Reference Table and Ordinance History Table.  An additional hourly charge applies for creation, modification, addition or 
updating of any table other than those enumerated in this footnote.    
2  Municode uses only acid-free paper. 
3  Includes printing all copies.  Additional fee if graphic includes color. 
4  Tabular matter is defined as Algebra formulae, or other materials that require special programs or extra editorial time to modify and 
prepare for inclusion in an update.   


Estimated pages based on page format and font size 


Page Format 
Font Size 


10pt 11pt 12pt 


Single Column 1350 1526 1688 


Double Column 964 1174 1268 







8 
 


 
Payments – base cost split into four payments – can be budgeted over two fiscal years 
 


 Execution of Agreement $6,885 


 Submission of the Legal Manuscript $5,740 


 Submission of Proofs $5,740  


 Delivery Balance 
 
 







9 
 


SUPPLEMENT SERVICE 
 
After publication of the new Code, Municode will update the Code as legislation is enacted.   
 
1. Material.  The Client shall forward a copy of legislation upon enactment.  Material is preferred in an 
electronically editable format and should be sent to ords@municode.com.  Every ordinance sent to Municode will 
be acknowledged via e-mail.  A complete list of legislation recorded in an update will be provided.  Municode will 
hold legislation pending a schedule or begin the job as established with the Client. 
 
2. Additional Provisions.  Municode can add provisions (e.g. charter, zoning, land development regulations) 
not included in the original project through the Supplement service.  They will be included in a Supplement or as a 
separate project and appropriate updates will be made to the Code and tables.  Additional divider tabs or binders 
will be provided as necessary.  Municode will advise of all options and applicable costs. 
 
3. Editorial Work.  The Supplement editorial team, who is supervised by a licensed attorney and consists of a 
legal editor, proofreader and indexer, will review the legislation to determine proper placement within the Code.  
Municode will adhere to the structure and style contained in the ordinance unless changes are required to ensure 
consistency with other text in the Code.  The team will also update the Table of Contents, catch lines, reference 
tables and index.  Editorial notes will be appended to sections that require additional explanation.  A Supplement 
History Table is provided to note all ordinances included.  Municode has Supplement teams trained in the use of 
InDesign, and will editorially preserve the integrity of form of such files whether displayed on-line or in print. 


 
4. Deliverables.  Updates can be delivered electronically or as printed copies, and on a schedule designed to 
meet the Client’s needs.   
 


a. Electronic Updates.  Amendments to the electronic version of the Code (CD, Internet, PDF, etc.) are 
incorporated into the Code and a fully searchable, complete Code will be delivered.  Electronic Updates 
are included in the base page rate and clients who receive both Electronic Updates and Printed 
Supplements receive the Printed Supplements at no charge.  Electronic Updates can be provided on their 
own schedule, or accompany Printed Supplements.   
 


b. Printed Supplements.  Amendments to the printed Code occur in the form of Printed Supplement pages 
that are issued as replacement pages.  Printed Supplements include updated Table of Contents, Code 
Comparative Table, index and text pages.  The base page rate includes a copy of each Supplement for 
every printed Code.  Printed Supplements will be delivered in bulk to the Client, unless Client chooses to 
utilize Municode’s Distribution Services 
 


c. Schedule.  Amendments are provided on a schedule designed to meet the needs of the Client.  The 
schedule can be weekly, biweekly, monthly, bi-monthly, quarterly, tri-annual, semi-annual, annual or upon 
authorization.  Electronic Updates can occur on a more frequent schedule than Printed Supplements.   
 


5. Posted Ordinances.  Municode can post newly enacted ordinances on the web between Supplements.  They 
are posted in their original form as a PDF and must be sent in an editable format via email.  Although these 
ordinances will be a part of your Code database, they are not incorporated (codified) into the Code until a 
Supplement or Electronic Update is prepared.  Once the posted ordinances, except for ordinances in the 
OrdBank, are included in a Supplement or Electronic Update, they are removed from the website. 
 


a. NOW Ordinances (New Ordinances on the Web).  NOW ordinances are presented on the initial page of 
the on-line Code in a table that includes ordinance title, adoption date and description.  This table also 
contains a link directly to the ordinance for viewing.     
 


b. OrdLink.  Ordlink expands the NOW service by highlighting the affected section in the Table of Contents; 
Linking the amended section in the Code text to the ordinance(s) in the NOW table; and Linking the 
ordinance in the NOW table to the amended text sections of the Code.   
 


c. OrdBank.  Is a permanent collection of all ordinances sent to Municode, listed chronologically and 
organized by Supplement number, presented on-line with number, date and a brief description.  Each 
ordinance in the list is linked to the actual ordinance as enacted, and from the History Note of the section 
derived from the ordinance.   



mailto:ords@municode.com





10 
 


ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 
1. Distribution.  Fulfillment services are available to distribute individual printed copies of Codes and 
Supplements to departments or subscribers at no additional fee to the Client.  Municode can sell the Codes, 
Supplements, chapter reprints, binders and tabs at a pre-determined price.  Municode assumes all risk and 
expense for providing these items.  Orders can be placed through our online ordering, via fax, mail or telephone.  
More detailed information about distribution services will be provided after the return of the proofs.   


 
2. Future Legal Review.  At any point during the term of this Agreement, or extensions thereof, Municode can 
provide additional legal review to identify inconsistencies, obsolete provisions or compare the Code to current 
State Law.  State Law references can be updated in conjunction with this legal review or as a separate 
engagement.  


 
3. MuniPro Advanced Research Tools.  While access to the Code and ordinances is free to everyone, 
Municode has developed a suite of premium tools for professionals who need advanced research abilities.  
MuniPRO provides subscribers with the following tools: 


 
 MuniPRO Search. Search all codes within one state, multiple codes within one state, or search all codes 


in the entire US! Search results are sorted by relevancy and indicate the source publication, showing 
excerpts and keyword highlighting. 
 


 MuniPRO Favorites. Create a “favorites” list of frequently visited Codes or sections.  This will save time 
by making navigation a one-click process from the Dashboard. 
 


 MuniPRO Notes. Create a note and attach it to any document in any publication. Note icons will show in 
both the Table of Contents and search results page, alerting the user to a previously written note. Notes 
can be shown or hidden when browsing and searching a publication, and a global listing of notes can be 
accessed with a single click from the Dashboard. 
 


 MuniPRO Drafts. Begin a new ordinance draft to keep track of pending legislation. Drafts icons will 
appear in the Table of Contents and search results, and can also be accessed from a single click.  
 


4. Electronic Records Management Software and Services (Laserfiche).  MCCi is the largest Laserfiche Var 
in the United States and focuses on Local Government.  With over 400 City/County clients, MCCi can provide 
your organization with the most experienced professionals to implement and support your Laserfiche solution.  
Laserfiche software is used for Electronic Records Management and here are just some of the features:  scan, 
index, search, archive, automate approval processes, make records available via the web, manage records 
retention, and integrate with your other software systems. 


 


 Archived Ordinances; integration with Laserfiche  
[  ] Up to 3,000 images, excess images $0.50/image $1,500 


 Future Updates at $1.00 per image 
 [  ] Online Document Hosting – First Year $1,000 


 Annual hosting renewal at $500 and $.035 per image hosted 
 
 
5. Utility Billing Services (MuniBills).  MCCAdvantage offers billing, statement and remittance processing 
services as an additional benefit under this agreement.  MCCAdvantage, a subsidiary of Municode, can provide 
the client with design, printing and mailing services for customer billing/statements of all types.  These services 
also include remittance payment options, software and other billing solutions.  Pricing information for this service 
can be supplied upon request. 
 
Billing services, to include custom formatting, data cleansing, printing and mailing of your statements, are 
included with this contract.  An initial setup fee and $.15 per bill (10,000 bills per month) includes formatting, 
printing, mailing, and materials.  Tiered pricing for volumes above 10,000 statements.  (Minimal charge of $250 
per month for volumes less than 2,000.)  PDF copies of all statements are provided in advance of mailing.  
Additional features available upon request.      


 







11 
 


SUPPLEMENT SERVICE QUOTATION SHEET FOR 
FAYETTE COUNTY, GEORGIA 


 
Supplement Service Base Page Rate


5
 


 


Page Format Base Page Rate 


Single Column $18 per page 


Double Column $22 per page 


 
Base page rate above includes:  


 Acknowledgement of Material 


 Data conversion, as necessary 


 Editorial Work 


 Proofreading 


 Indexing 


 Creation of Tables
6
 


 Schedule as selected by Client
7
 


 Updating Electronic versions
8
, (e.g. CDs and Internet) 


 Printing 1 supplement copy 
 
Additional Services that apply to Supplement Service: 


 Code on Internet, annually
9
 $550 


 Graphics
10


  & Tabular
11


  matter, per graphic or table $10 


 Electronic delivery handling fee, per delivery
12


 $75 


 New Ordinances on the Web (NOW), per ordinance $25 


 OrdLink
13


, per ordinance $50 


 OrdBank
14


 per ordinance $10 


 CodeBank, per year $150 


 Freight, prebilled Actual freight 


 State Sales Tax If applicable 
 


Payment for Supplement and Additional Services 


 Invoices will be submitted upon shipment of project(s). 
 
Other Additional Services: 
MuniPRO, per annum subscription $495


15
 


Electronic Records Management Software and Services (Laserfiche) Quotation upon request 
Document Scanning Services (MuniScan) Quotation upon request 
Utility Billing Services (MuniBills) Quotation upon request 


                                            
5   All prices quoted in this section may be increased no more frequently than annually in accordance with the Producer Price Index – 
Internet Publishing and web search portals (NAICS 519130) as reported by US Department of Labor – Bureau of Labor Statistics. 
6 The following Tables will be updated and are included in the Base Page Rate: Supplement History Table, Code Comparative Table, State 
Law Reference Table and Ordinance History Table.  An additional hourly charge applies for creation, modification, addition or updating of 
any table other than those enumerated in this footnote.       
7   Schedule for Supplements can be weekly, biweekly, monthly, bi-monthly, quarterly, tri-annual, semi-annual, annual or upon 
authorization.  Electronic Updates can occur more frequently than printed Supplements. 
8   We do not charge a per page rate for updating CDs or the Internet – this is included in the supplement per page rate. 
9  The annual Code on Internet fee will be $700 to include our CodeBank Service; however, the Client can choose to have the Code on 
Internet only at $550 per year. 
10  Includes printing all copies.  Additional fee if graphic includes color. 
11  Tabular matter is defined as Algebra formulae, or other materials that require special programs or extra editorial time to modify and 
prepare for inclusion in an update.     
12  “delivery” is defined as making updated electronic data available to the Client on CD-ROM, FTP.  Fee applies whenever content is 
delivered as HTML, PDF, RTF, XML or integrated with a search engine, via one of the afore-mentioned mediums. 
13  If OrdLink is selected the NOW service is not necessary.   
14  OrdBank requires participation in NOW or OrdLink service.  Fee for combined services is either $35 with NOW or $60 with OrdLink per 
ordinance.   
15 These subscriptions are based on concurrent users, if you have five employees, but only three users will be logged in at any given time, 
you need to purchase only three subscriptions. 











13 
 


 


 
 
 


QUALIFICATIONS 
 


For more than 60 years, Municipal Code Corporation (Municode) has engaged predominantly in editing and 
publishing Codes for municipalities and counties of all sizes throughout the United States.  Municode has published 
and supplemented more Codes that are in current use than any other codifier in the Country.  This experience 
enables us to offer you the finest services available.  We also have started two other divisions focused on 
government clients:  MCCi (Municipal Code Corporation Innovations) and MCCa (Municode Code Corporation 
Advantage). 
 
 Business main location: 1700 Capital Circle, SW 
   Tallahassee, FL 32310 
   800-262-2633 or 850-576-3171 
 
 Incorporation Date: March 1951 
 
 Current Code Accounts Serviced: over 3,000 
 
 Divisions:                                    MCCi - Document Management and Agenda Automation 
                                            MCCa - Utility Billing and Statement Processing 


 
Personnel/Offices 


 
The entire corporate staff consists of approximately 150 employees, including 9 attorneys, 35 editors, and 46,000 
square feet of floor space.  We have regional offices in Apple Valley, Minnesota; Fort Worth and Edinburg, Texas; 
Charlottesville, Virginia; Seattle, Washington and our main office in Tallahassee, Florida. 


 
Key Personnel Assigned to Project 


 
Legal: 
 
H. E. “Rick” Grant, Executive Vice President and COO.  B.S., U. S. Naval Academy; J.D., Florida State University.  
Rick is a former naval aviator and Navy attorney (JAG Corps) who retired as The Judge Advocate General, the 
Navy’s senior attorney.  He has twelve years of experience as COO of Municode and will have overall supervision of 
the project.  He will assign the Municode attorney, who will conduct a thorough legal review to identify any 
inconsistencies or conflicts between ordinances and any conflicts with state law, send the municipality a legal 
manuscript that identifies these inconsistencies and conflicts, and make recommendations on how to proceed.  The 
attorney will then contact the municipality to set up a conference to discuss these issues 
 
Project Coordinators: 
 
Dale Barstow, Vice President of Sales, Pilot of Municode’s Corporate Airplane; Graduate from Embry-Riddle 
Aeronautical University; Honorary City Clerk in 5 States; Municipal Clerks Education Foundation President; 
Continuing Education – Dale Carnegie Sales Training; Speaker for over 39 conferences.  Dale has over 40 years’ 
experience in client sales.  Dale meets with our customers to ensure face to face communication and coordination. 
 
 
 
 







14 
 


Steffanie W. Rasmussen - Assistant Vice President of Sales, M.S., Industrial & Organizational Psychology, Kansas 
State University; B.S., Business Psychology, Florida State University; Certificate in Performance Management, 
Florida State University.  Worked with Bagel Bagel Café and Bagel Bagel Franchise Systems, Inc. from Restaurant 
Management to Developing and Implementing the Franchise Product.  Communication, Efficiency and Customer 
Service driven.     
     
 
Supplementation: 
 
Dennis J. Sinnett, Vice President of Supplements, – Received a B.S. from the United States Naval Academy, a 
M.A.S from Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University.  A former Naval aviator with over 30 years of leadership 
experience, he is the Supervisor of the Supplement Department.  In order to ensure that you receive the best 
service possible, Municode has deployed a team concept.  This team organizational structure allows for efficient 
communication, reduces the turn-around time for the publication of your supplements and helps to ensure you the 
highest degree of accuracy possible.  In addition, because each team is comprised of three editors and one 
proofreader, it allows for what we call “bench depth” – there is always a backup person who is familiar with the 
municipality’s Code of Ordinances.  As the Supplement Department Supervisor, he will work with the lead editor 
to review the amending ordinances and establish a schedule for the completion of each job.  Additionally, he will 
oversee your code as it progresses through our supplementation process.            
 
Leslie Mayne, Production Support Account Representative, B.A., English and Anthropology, Florida State University.  
Ms. Mayne has over eleven years of customer service experience.  She is the Production Support Representative 
for the Supplement Department, serving as a direct point of contact for our customers.  She is responsible for 
ensuring that the company’s customers receive a superior level of service and assistance with their questions and or 
concerns.  Leslie’s goal is simple:  Provide timely, superior customer service each and every day. 
 
Indexing: 
 


Joy Luczynski, Indexing Supervisor, A.A., Calhoun Community College; Paralegal Technology; Member of American 
Society of Indexers.  Joy has over 10 years of experience in indexing Codes.  Joy will provide oversight and 
technical assistance for initial editorial preparation of the Index and updating the Index through the Supplement 
Service. 
 
Information Technology: 
 
Phillip Claiborne, Chief Information Officer, B.S., Management Information Systems, Florida State University; MBA, 
University of Florida; CompTIA Certified A+, Net+, Security+, Microsoft Certified Systems Administrator. 10 years of 
extensive experience supporting, designing and administering corporate network environments. 
 
Matt Farley, Systems Administrator, AA, Tallahassee Community College, Currently obtaining BA in IT at FSU.  Matt 
has over 3 years of systems/network management experience. 
 
Elliot Haworth, Web Developer, B.A., Computer Science, Mercer University.  Elliot has over 5 years of experience 
with desktop application programming and developing web based applications. 
 
Stacy Corry – Art & Media Specialist, B.A. Psychology, Commercial Art degree – Stacy has over 10 years’ 
experience with Municode as art and technical advisor, over 15 years’ experience in graphic design, 20 years’ 
experience as a technical writer and software trainer.  
 


Law Editorial Staff 
 


Alyce A. Whitson, B.A., University of South Florida; J.D., University of Florida; more than 37 years of experience in 
local government law; Member of Florida Bar.  Alyce has completed over 600 codes and various other legal projects 
throughout the United States, including Alaska, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, 
Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, New Hampshire, New York, 
North Carolina, North Dakota, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, 
Vermont, Virginia, Washington, Wisconsin, and Wyoming. 
 
 







15 
 


 
William J. Carroll Jr., B.S., Penn State University; J.D., Florida State University; more than 35 years of experience in 
local government law; Member of Florida Bar.  Bill has completed hundreds of codes and legal projects throughout 
the United States including codes in Arkansas, Colorado, Florida, Indiana, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, 
Maine, Michigan, Missouri, Montana, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, Pennsylvania, South Dakota, Tennessee, 
Texas, Virginia, and Wyoming. 
 
Roger D. Merriam, B.A., Mercer University; J.D., Emory University; more than 35 years of experience in local 
government law; Member of Florida Bar.  Roger has completed Codes in multiple states including Alabama, Arizona, 
Arkansas, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, 
Louisiana, Massachusetts, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Nebraska, New Mexico, 
New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, South Dakota, South Carolina, 
Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, West Virginia, and Wisconsin.  
 
Daniel F. Walker, B.S., Florida Southern College; J.D., Georgia State University College of Law; 8 years of private 
practice; 10 years of experience in local government law; member of Florida and South Carolina Bars.  Also 
admitted to practice before the U.S. Court of International Trade and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Armed 
Forces.  He has completed codes in Illinois, Louisiana, Mississippi, New Mexico, North Carolina, South Carolina, 
Texas, Virginia, and West Virginia. 
 
Jim Jenkins, B.A., Eckerd College; J.D., University of Maryland School of Law; Former Appellate Attorney and Trial 
Prosecutor for the Kings County District Attorney's Office, Brooklyn, NY; 12 years of experience in complex legal 
research and litigation; 5 years of experience in local government law.  Jim has completed Codes in Alabama, 
California, Georgia, Louisiana, South Carolina, Texas, and Wisconsin. 
 
Sandra S. Fox, B.A, Florida State University; J.D., Florida State University; 13 years of experience in legal research 
and writing.  Sandra has completed Codes in Alaska, Alabama, Georgia, Illinois, Kansas, Maine, Michigan, 
Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, and Wisconsin. 


 
 


Municipal Code Corporation Executives 
 
A. Lawton Langford.  President and CEO.  Received his Bachelor of Arts from Vanderbilt University, with a double 
major in Economics and Business Administration, a Juris Doctor from the Florida State University College of Law, and 
a Masters of Business Administration from the Florida State University College of Business.  Thirty years’ experience 
with MCC. 
 
W. Eric Grant, Vice President, Eric Grant is Vice President of Municipal Code Corporation. Eric joined the Municode 
team in 2007 after graduating from the University of Virginia School of Law.  Prior to receiving his Juris Doctorate from 
the University of Virginia, and becoming a member of the Florida Bar, Eric served as a Tank Platoon Commander in 
the United States Marine Corps. As a Marine, Eric served both stateside and abroad. Eric and his unit were deployed 
during Operation Enduring Freedom shortly after September 11, 2001. By way of preparation for his career as a 
United States Marine, Eric attended both the United States Naval Academy and Georgetown University’s School of 
Foreign Service. While at the Naval Academy, Eric served as the Brigade Commander, responsible for the 
development, training and welfare of over 4,000 of America’s finest young men and women. While serving as a United 
States Marine, Eric served in Virginia, Kentucky, California and abroad as a member of the 15th Marine Expeditionary 
Unit. Eric is happily married to Sara Grant and has four children. 


H. E. “Rick” Grant, Executive Vice President and C.O.O.  Received his Bachelor of Science degree from the U. S. 
Naval Academy and his Juris Doctor from Florida State University.  A former naval aviator and Navy attorney (JAG 
Corps) who retired as The Judge Advocate General, the Navy’s senior attorney.  Twelve years of experience as 
Executive Vice President and C.O.O. of Municipal Code Corporation. 
 
Michelle Eagen. Chief Financial Officer and Vice President of Finance.  Received Bachelor of Science in Accounting 
from the University of Florida and Master of Accounting degree from Nova Southeastern University.  She is a licensed 
and active Florida CPA and has eight years’ experience with Municode, and over sixteen years of professional 
accounting experience in the publishing industry. 
 
 
 







16 
 


WEBSITE SERVICES 
 


Site Customization – Municode can customize the look and feel of your Code on municode.com to more closely match 
your web site.  This is accomplished by posting a banner image (provided by the client) over the top portion of our site.  
$250 set up.  No annual charge, unless Client changes their banner. 


 


 
 
Cross Reference Hyperlinking – Cross references within the Code will be linked to their respective destination Article, 
Chapter, or Section.  This feature is offered to you as part of your annual Internet fee.  


 


Static linking to your Code – Each level of the code has a static link that will enable your users to easily create “Hot 
Links” to any section of the code.  Simply click the permalink icon to the right of each heading level and paste the URL 
into the destination of your choice. This feature is offered to you as part of your annual Internet fee.   


 


 
 


Mouseover (cluetips) - Navigate to a code and any linked cross reference will display the pop-up after a 1 second 
delay. You’ll need to clear your browser cache to enable them (Tools -> Internet Options -> Delete -> Temporary Internet 
Files).  This feature is offered to you as part of your annual Internet fee.   
 


 
 


New Ordinances on the Web (NOW).  Municode can post newly enacted ordinances on the web between 
supplements so that anyone viewing your Code will find the most current legislation. The NOW ordinances are not 
edited into the Code; they are posted as a PDF in their original form.  A list of NOW ordinances is presented in the 
opening page of the Code in a table to include ordinance title, adoption date and description. This table also contains a 
link directly to the ordinance for viewing.  Once NOW ordinances are included in a supplement or electronic update to 
the Code, they will be removed from the web.  No setup fee is required and the cost for this service is $25 per 
ordinance. 







17 
 


 
 


OrdLink.  OrdLink links a NOW ordinance to the section being amended.  Linked Sections will be highlighted in the 
Table of Contents and a link is created from the amended section to the new ordinance.  Once the linked NOW 
ordinances are incorporated into the Code they are removed from the website.  For the linked NOW ordinance to be 
searchable, they must be sent in an editable format.  Scanned documents can be included in the list and are viewable, 
but not searchable.  No setup fee is required and the cost for this service is $50 per ordinance. 


 


 
 


OrdBank.  Is a permanent collection of all ordinances sent to Municode, listed chronologically and organized by 
Supplement number, presented on-line with number, date with a brief description.  Each ordinance in the list is linked to 
the actual ordinance as enacted, and from the History Note of the section derived from the ordinance.  No set up fee is 
required and the cost of this service is $10 per ordinance and requires participation in the NOW or OrdLink Service.   


 


 
 







18 
 


CodeBank.  Is a code management tool available on municode.com that allows anyone to easily recreate a Code 
as it existed after a previous update or Supplement.  Previous versions are accessible from a drop down box that 
appears with the on-line Code and when a previous version is selected, users are alerted that they are looking at 
an older version of the Code.  The historic version of the Code is fully searchable and printable, making the task 
of researching past versions of your Code more efficient. Each archived copy will contain the entire Code as up-to-


date through that supplement, and will be fully searchable.  If CodeBank is enabled, any user of the Code will be able to 
browse past versions, with a clear indication when they are not in the most up-to-date version of the Code.  No set up 
fee is required and the cost for this service is $150 per annum. 
 


 
 


Email (from the Web) – Chapters, Articles or individual Sections may be selected for emailing.  The functionality is very 
intuitive and easy to use and is included in your annual Internet fee.  
 


 
 


Print or Save – Similar to Emailing, Chapters, Articles or individual Sections may be selected for Printing or Saving.  
Save (as compared to “blocking & copying”) preserves the formatting when the document is edited using your word 
processing software.  These features are offered to you as part of your annual Internet fee.   
 


 
 



http://www.municode.com/





19 
 


Pinpoint Searching – Easily search any individual Code with our advanced search options: revisit previously 
conducted searches using the “Search History” button; or narrow the scope of your search to find more specific 
legislation.  Once again these features are offered to you as part of your annual Internet fee.   


 
MuniPro Searching – MuniPro Searching allows you to search all of the Codes we host (the entire country, a single 
state, a specified population range, or individually selected Codes of your choosing). MuniPro Searches are ideal for 
researching local regulations of special interest, or to find out how other communities are dealing with similar issues.  
Annual subscription of $495, user Name and Password required. 
 
In-line Images & PDFs - Municode takes great care to ensure that your images match online and in print, and are 
captured at the highest quality possible.  Our online graphics can be enlarged with a frameless view to maximize the 
image.  Municode can also incorporate PDFs of certain portions of the Code that have very specific viewing and layout 
requirements.  These PDFs are fully searchable within our search engine, and are typically utilized with form-based 
Land Development Codes.  This service is included in your annual Code on the Internet fee. 


 


 
 


Mobile Friendly Site – The Municode.com Online Library offers a mobile friendly version of your Code.  This is a 
frameless version that is accessible from your mobile device and is formatted for a better viewing experience on today’s 
modern Smartphone’s.  The website knows when a visitor is viewing the content on a mobile device, and automatically 
changes the view to maximize the capabilities of the hand-held device. 
 


 


 







20 
 


 





		Administration- Municode Agenda Request File

		Administration- Municode Backup










COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Fire and EMS M. Allen McCullough


Approval of staff's request to amend an architectural, engineering, and interior design services contract with The Howell Group by 


approving Change Order #1, in the amount of $4,800.00, and authorization for the Chairman to sign the Change Order contingent upon 


the County Attorney's review. 


On April 12, 2012, the Board of Commissioners awarded a contract for architectural, engineering, and interior design services for 


replacement of Fire Station #3 to The Howell Group, in the amount of $98,000.00. 


 


It has been determined that a Stormwater Management Report must be prepared and provided to the Town of Tyrone so that they can 


issue a Stormwater Permit, before construction of the new facility begins.  This report was not included in the original contract, and it 


requires two steps:  1) A topographic survey and soils report and 2) Completion of the Stormwater Management Report. 


 


This request is to approve Change Order #1 which calls for additional services including architectural and civil engineering for a 


stormwater management report.


Approval of staff's request to amend an architectural, engineering, and interior design services contract with The Howell Group by 


approving Change Order #1, in the amount of $4,800.00, and authorization for the Chairman to sign the Change Order contingent upon 


the County Attorney's review. 


Funds are available within Capital Project Account (37530550-521316 0550A). 


No


No Yes


Yes


Yes Yes


The Howell Group has agreed to reduce the Change Order's proposed adjustment cost from $5,400.00 to $4,800.00.


ConsentThursday, January 24, 2013







 


Mailing Address:  140 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville GA 30214 Main Phone:  770-460-5730 Web Site:  www.fayettecountyga.gov


 
 
 
 
To:  Board of Commissioners 
  Steve Rapson 
 
From:  Ted L. Burgess 
 
Date:  January 18, 2013 
 
Subject: Addendum to Contract #817 – Architectural Services for Fire Station #3 
 
On April 12, 2012 the Board awarded a contract to the Howell Group.  The contract is for 
architectural, engineering, and interior design services for replacement of Fire Station #3 in 
Tyrone.  The contracted amount was $98,000. 
 
It has been determined that a Stormwater Management Report must be prepared and provided to 
the Town of Tyrone, so that they can issue a Stormwater Permit, before construction of the new 
facility.  This work had not been included in the original contract.  It requires two steps: 
 


1. A topographic survey and soils report: A survey of the construction site had been 
completed in 2010.  However, since a pond on adjacent property would be used for water 
runoff detention, an additional topographic survey and soils report for the adjacent 
property was needed.  This work is nearly completed. 


 
2. Completion of the Stormwater Management Report: Using the topographic survey and 


soils report as a basis, the Howell Group can do the architectural and civil engineering 
work that will complete the Stormwater Management Report.  With Board approval, the 
Purchasing Department will prepare an addendum that adds $4,800 to the contract for 
this purpose. 


 
Fire and Emergency Services recommends that the above action be taken.  The Purchasing 
Department supports their recommendation. 
 
 





















		Fire and EMS- Architectural Services Agenda Request File

		Fire and EMS- Architectural Services Backup

		Fire and EMS- Architectural Services Backup REV

		Fire and EMS- Architectural Services Backup

		Backup 1- Architectural Services Change Order - Purchasing Backup

		Backup 2- 01_24_13  Fire & ES     Architectural Services Charge Order #1














COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Probate Court Mary S Holland / Greg Ownby


Approval of a request from the Honorable Judge Ann Jackson to install a service window in the Justice Center Lobby to accommodate 
separation of passport services and adopt a budget amendment to increase revenues and expenditures for this project in an amount not 
to exceed $1,500.00. 


The U. S. Dept of State oversees passport application acceptance facilities including Fayette County's Probate Court office and has 
asked Judge Jackson to separate passport applicants from other customers they serve. An auditor for the Passport Agency recently 
visited conducting their normal 2 year review.  Based on new rules the passport folks have imposed regarding keeping passport business 
separate from birth certificate business (Probate is also the local custodian and registrar for the State of Georgia Vital Records Division of 
the Department of Human Services) – for security and fraud prevention reasons – a separate counter is needed for passport applicants 
and birth certificate customers.  Based on limited space, the only solution is to install a separate window and counter in the front of the 
office that leads to the lobby.  Passport customers would be helped in the lobby area, and other customers, including birth certificate 
customers, would be helped inside the door at the main and existing counter.  The State Dept. representative has approved this plan and 
the Sheriff has stated this change is not a problem from a security standpoint and his Justice Center staff is prepared for the change.  
 
Funding for this project will be passport fees provided to the County.  Construction will be handled by the building maintenance 
department who expect to complete within a day.  Estimated costs are not to exceed $1,500.00


Approval of the change to the Justice Center lobby for the installation of a service window and a mirrored FY2013 budget amendment 
increasing both Probate Court fees and project expenditures in an amount not to exceed $1,500.00. No impact to bottom line. 


Funding for this project will be passport fees provided to the County by Judge Jackson. 


No


No No


Yes


Not Applicable Yes


ConsentThursday, January 24, 2013








COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina


Consideration of Petition 1225-12, Gregory H. Moody, Jr. and Brenda K. Moody, Owners, and Lynette M. Bowles, Agent, request to 


rezone 2.49 acres from A-R: Agricultural-Residential to A-R (LNS): Agricultural-Residential (Legal Nonconforming Status) to bring said 


property into zoning compliance.  This property is located at 250 Rising Star Road and also fronts on Old Greenville Road.


Staff recommends approval of Petition 1224-12 to rezone 2.49 acres from A-R:  Agricultural-Residential to A-R (LNS):  Agricultural-


Residential (Legal Nonconforming Status), with two recommended conditions. 


 


The Planning Commission voted 4-0-1 for approval of Petition 1225-12, with two recommended conditions.   


 


The recommended conditions are: 


 


1)  The owner/developer shall donate at no cost to the County, via quit claim deed, 10 feet of right-of-way along Rising Star Road and 30 


feet of right-of-way from the centerline of Old Greenville Road prior to the approval of the Minor Subdivision Plat and said dedication area 


shall be shown on the Minor Subdivision Plat.  (Per Public Works, this condition is to ensure the provision of adequate right-of-way for 


future road improvements.) 


 


2)  The existing detached garage encroaching 31 feet into the 50 foot side yard setback will need a variance approved by the Zoning 


Board of Appeals to remain in the setback prior to submittal of the Minor Subdivision Plat.


Consideration of Petition 1225-12, Gregory H. Moody, Jr. and Brenda K. Moody, Owners, and Lynette M. Bowles, Agent, request to 


rezone 2.49 acres from A-R: Agricultural-Residential to A-R (LNS): Agricultural-Residential (Legal Nonconforming Status) to bring said 


property into zoning compliance.  This property is located at 250 Rising Star Road and also fronts on Old Greenville Road.


Not Applicable.


No


Yes Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable Yes


Public HearingThursday, January 24, 2013





























































































































		Planning and Zoning- Petition 1225-12 Agenda Request Fiile

		Planning and Zoning-Petition 1225-12 Backup










COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Solid Waste Vanessa Birrell


Consideration of staff's recommendation to renew Proposal No. P764 to Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc. to conduct post-closure 


environmental monitoring and compliance activities at the two closed Fayette County solid waste facilities on First Manassas Mile Road 


for a 12-month period, in an amount not to exceed $73,570.00.


Solid Waste Management includes overseeing and monitoring post-closure compliance activities required by Georgia Solid Waste 


Management Regulations (391-3-4.14) and complying with other regulatory programs.  The continued scope of work includes on-going 


semi-annual groundwater and monthly methane monitoring and reporting to the EPD; preparation of a minor modification request for the 


northside permit boundary modification. 


 


Modifications to the methane monitoring frequency and network from monthly monitoring conducted under this contract are still being 


revised by Jacobs in concert with EPD as further data is acquired is acquired after the new mitigation system installation.  The northside 


permit boundary modification task has not been initiated due to inconsistent methane readings in perimeter wells. 


 


Six firms responded to this RFP.  Each proposal was evaluated on project understanding, technical approach, qualifications, and cost 


criteria established in the RFP.  Jacobs Engineering's response to the RFP was the lowest not-to-exceed quote of all six responders.  


The original bid was approved by the Board on November 18, 2010 and became effective February 23, 2011.    A one-year extension 


was approved on March 8, 2012 and  became effective on May 3, 2012.  Jacobs has offered to extend current contract not to exceed 


pricing for another year.


Approval of staff's recommendation to renew Proposal No. P764 to Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc. to conduct post-closure 


environmental monitoring and compliance activities at the two closed Fayette County solid waste facilities on First Manassas Mile Road 


for a 12-month period, in an amount not to exceed $73,570.00.


Funding for this request is budgeted in the Solid Waste budget.


No


No Yes


Yes


Yes Yes


Solid Waste has $80,070 budgeted for this purpose and this renewal reflects a decrease of ($6,500.00) or 8.1% due to eliminating Tasks 


III & IV.  Staff is working on lowering the costs for Methane Monitoring and northside boundary requirements that may produce additional 


savings.  The anticipated FY2013 Solid Waste Budget shortfall is $75,582.00.


Old BusinessThursday, January 24, 2013







 
 


Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 
S:\Proposals\20164\77\00122\Fayette SW Contract Renewal Letter - No Price Increase_011413_FINAL.doc 
 


Jacobs Engineering Group Inc. 


6801 Governors Lake Parkway 


Norcross, Georgia  30071  USA  
770.455.8555  


  
 


 


 


January 14, 2013        


 


 


 


 


Ms. Vanessa Birrell, CFM 


Director - Stormwater Management 


Fayette County 


140 Stonewall Avenue, West Suite 203 


Fayetteville, Georgia 30214 


 


Subject: Contract Renewal – 2013-2014 


#P764 Contract for Environmental and Engineering Services 


Fayette County, Georgia 


  


 


Dear Ms. Birrell: 


 


In light of our ongoing solid waste work for Fayette County and our current contract term 


nearing its end, Jacobs is pleased to inform you that we are willing to keep our contract price and 


billing rates the same for another 1-year contract term.  We are hopeful that the County will 


chose to renew our contract, and we are excited for the opportunity to work with the County for 


another year.  


 


Please feel free to contact me (678-313-9397) if you have any additional questions or require 


additional information. 


 


Sincerely, 


 


JACOBS ENGINEERING GROUP INC. 


 


 


 


Joshua L. Lawson, P.G. 


Senior Project Manager 


 


cc: Ellen McManus - Jacobs 





		Solid Waste- RFP 764 Agenda Request File

		Solid Waste- RFP 764 Backup






COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Water System Tony Parrott


Approval of the Water Committee's recommendation to insert a letter into the February water bills informing customers about current 


water restrictions.


The Georgia Water Stewardship Act went into effect statewide on June 2, 2010.  The Water System requested a variance and it was 


approved by the Department of Natural Resources for 150 days.  The variance was requested due to the current levels of the reservoirs.  


The Water System customers need to be informed of the current restrictions under the variance as well as have an updated of the water 


reservoir levels. 


 


The Water Committee is recommending inserting a letter with the water bills mailed in February to inform the Water System customers of 


the current restrictions and current reservoir levels.  When the final letter is printed, the most current reservoir levels will be included in 


the letter.  The draft has blanks in this area to enable Water System staff to give the customers the most recent data at the time the 


letters are mailed.


Approval of the Water Committee's recommendation to insert a letter into the February water bills informing customers about current 


water restrictions.


Funding for the cost of printing the letters will be provided by the Water System's Public Relations budget item.  The postage for mailing 


the water bills will not change.


No


No Yes


Yes


Not Applicable Yes


ConsentThursday, January 24, 2013









		Water- Bill Insert Agenda Request File

		Water- Bill Insert Backup






COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Water System Tony Parrott


Approval of the Water Committee's 2013 Meeting Schedule.


The Water Committee meets the 2nd and 4th Wednesday of the month.  In the past, the meeting schedule has been approved by the 


Board of Commissioners and then posted for the public.


Approval of the Water Committee's 2013 Meeting Schedule.


Not Applicable.


Yes Annually


No Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable Yes


ConsentThursday, January 24, 2013







 


 
Mailing Address:  140 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville GA 30214 Main Phone:  770-460-5730 Web Site:  www.fayettecountyga.gov 


 
 
To: Water Committee 


From: Lisa Speegle 


Date: January 9, 2013 


Subject:  Meeting schedule for 2013 


 


 


Following are the dates for Water Committee meetings for this year. 


 


 January 9   January 23 


 February 6   February 27 


 March 13   March 27 


 April 10   April 24  


 May 8    May 22 


 June 12 - Cancel  June 26 


 July 10   July 24 


 August 14   August 28 


 September 11   September 25 


 October 9   October 23 


 November 13   November 27  


 December 11              December 25 - Cancel 


 


 





		Water- Meeting Schedule Agenda Request File

		Water- 2013 Water Commission 2013 Meeting Schedule Backup






COUNTY AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this request been considered within the past two years? If so, when?


Is Audio-Visual Equipment Required for this Request?*


Administrator's Approval


Backup Provided with Request?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


County Clerk's Approval


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


*  All audio-visual material must be submitted to the County Clerk's Office no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting.  It is also  


  your department's responsibility to ensure all third-party audio-visual material is submitted at least 48 hours in advance.


Water System Tony Parrott


Approval of the Water Committee's recommendation to prepare a Resolution to swap twenty-two (22) Fayette County Water System 


customers with twenty (20) City of Fayetteville Water Department customers.


The Fayette County Water System has twenty-two (22) customers in Drennan Lake who are served water through Chanticleer 


subdivision.  The Water System purchases water back from the City of Fayetteville to service those 22 customers. 


 


Additionally, there are fourteen lots on Honey Lane and six other lots on Hood Avenue that are served by the City of Fayetteville, but are 


not in the Water Department's service area. 


 


The Water Committee has recommended swapping water customers with the City of Fayetteville in an effort to straighten out the service 


areas.  In order to do this, resolutions will have to be prepared, approved, and signed by both Fayette County and the City of Fayetteville.


Approval of the Water Committee's recommendation to prepare a Resolution to swap twenty-two (22) Fayette County Water System 


customers with twenty (20) City of Fayetteville Water Department customers.


Not Applicable.


No


No Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable Yes


The motion to approve this request should be conditioned upon approval by the City of Fayetteville.


ConsentThursday, January 24, 2013







HONEY LN


MA
RY


 LY
NN


 LN


BECKY CT


HOOD AV


HILO RD


WYONIA WAY


DR
EN


NA
N D


R


MU
RP


HY
 C


RE
EK


 LN
CA


NT
ER


BU
RY


 LN


WYONIA CT


Fayette County / City of Fayetteville Services


Currently City of Fayetteville
Honey Lane / Lots 35 - 49 (14 services)


734 / 732 / 730 / 714 Hood Avenue (4 services) 


Currently Fayette County Water System
Wyonia Way \ Wyonia Court (22 services)





		Water- Service Area Agenda Request File

		Water- Service Area Backup






MinutesMinutesMinutesMinutes
Board of Commissioners


January 2, 2013
6:30 P.M.


Notice: A complete audio recording of this meeting can be heard by accessing Fayette
County’s Website at www.fayettecountyga.gov.  Click on “Board of Commissioners”, then
“County Commission Meetings”, and follow the instructions.  The entire meeting or a single
topic can be heard.


                       
The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, met in Official Session on January 2, 2013 at 6:30 p.m. in the
Public Meeting Room of the Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall Avenue, Fayetteville, Georgia.


Commissioners Present: Steve Brown, Chairman
Charles Oddo, Vice Chairman
David Barlow
Allen McCarty
Randy Ognio


Staff Present: Dennis Davenport, Interim County Attorney
Floyd Jones, County Clerk


_______________________________________________________________________________________________


Swearing in of new elected officials by Probate Judge Ann Jackson


Commissioner Brown thanked the audience for coming to the swearing in of the new Commissioners and for attending
the public meeting.  He briefly described how the meeting would proceed before he introduced Probate Judge Ann
Jackson and asked her to swear in the new Commissioners.


Probate Judge Ann Jackson swore David Barlow, Charles Oddo, and Randy Ognio into office as Fayette County
Commissioners, and each new Commissioner took pictures with their families.


Call to Order.


Commissioner Allen McCarty called the January 2, 2013 Board of Commissioners meeting to order at 6:51 p.m.


Reverend Ed Johnson will offer the Invocation.


Commissioner McCarty asked Reverend Ed Johnson to offer the Invocation, and Reverend Johnson did so.


Pledge of Allegiance.


Commissioner McCarty led the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.







Minutes
January 2, 2013
Page Number 2


Acceptance of Agenda.


Commissioner Brown moved to accept the Agenda as written.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion.  No
discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


ORGANIZATIONAL SESSION:


1. Election of Board Chairman for the year 2013.


County Clerk Floyd Jones called for the nominations for the Board Chairman.  Commissioner David Barlow
nominated Commissioner Steve Brown for Chairman.  Commissioner Ognio seconded the nomination.  No
other nomination or discussion followed.  


Mr. Jones closed the nomination and called for the vote.  The nomination for Commissioner Steve Brown to
be Chairman of the Fayette County Board of Commissioners for the 2013 calendar year passed 4-0-1 with
Commissioner McCarty abstaining from the vote.


2. Election of Board Vice- Chairman for the year 2013.


Chairman Brown called for nominations for the Vice Chairman of the Board of Commissioners.  Commissioner
Charles Oddo nominated Commissioner David Barlow for the position of Vice Chairman. Commissioner Oddo
commented that the group of men on the Board was very difficult to choose from for the position of Vice
Chairman since they are all qualified, but he reiterated his nomination of Commissioner Barlow for the position.


Commissioner Barlow thanked Commissioner Oddo for the nomination but declined the nomination, and then
he nominated Commissioner Charles Oddo for the position of Vice Chairman.  Commissioner Randy Ognio
seconded the nomination.  No other nomination was given and no discussion followed.  The nomination for
Commissioner Charles Oddo to be the Vice Chairman of the Fayette County Board of Commissioners for the
2013 calendar year passed unanimously.


PUBLIC COMMENT:


Chairman Brown announced that the new Board of Commissioners would get rid of the sign-in sheets in the back of the
room.  He said if a citizen wants to speak they can speak whether or not they signed up.  He further announced that any
item that is on the Agenda, if a citizen wants to speak about it, once a motion and a second is made, the Board will allow
the citizens to say what they want to say.  He said if there is a comment that does not relate to something on the agenda,
then citizens can speak about it during the Public Comment section of the Agenda.  


Cherie Werginz: Ms. Werginz thanked the Board for all the effort it took to be elected to the Board.  She then
commented on the “Stormwater Assessment / Tax” saying it bothers her.  She then commented on her research and
asked if there was a way to amend the Stormwater Assessment during the year or a way to no longer have the
Stormwater Assessment.  She also asked if the TSPLOST could have paid for the Stormwater Assessment needs.  She
also asked if there was going to be committee or a study for those who cannot afford paying the Stormwater
Assessment.







Minutes
January 2, 2013
Page Number 3


Chairman Brown: Chairman Brown stated that none of the five Commissioners at the meeting voted for the Stormwater
Utility, however, there are significant stormwater problems that need to be addressed.  He said the County would have
to figure out a way to pay for the stormwater problems.  He said he has easily answered 300 phone calls from
constituents and that he has returned every phone call that has been forwarded to the Commissioners.  He said he has
told all 300 constituents that an invitation will be mailed to each person who received a Stormwater bill, and the invitation
will have no less than three open, public meetings where the Board of Commissioners will sit on the floor-level with the
citizens discussing the situation and how the citizens would like to see the Board address the problem.  He said there
has never been a plan since all the stormwater pipes have been under the roads for decades to replace the
infrastructure, and he said there are no funds in place to pay for the replacements.  He said there should be an invitation
by the middle to the end of January to everyone who received a stormwater bill.


Commissioner McCarty: Commissioner McCarty added that the stormwater utility is not a new issue since it has been
around for several years.  He said when both he and Commissioner Brown inherited an $18 million dollar bill that had
not been paid in the past since it was kicked down the road to be taken care of later.  He said the current Board would
have to make up for the “lack that was not done in the past.”


Steve Smithfield: Mr. Smithfield stated that Mr. Dennis Chase emailed him earlier saying he would not be able to attend
the meeting, but that he would appreciate if a message could be passed along on his behalf.  Mr. Smithfield then read
Mr. Chase’s message to the Board.  Mr. Chase’s message addressed “important problems which exist with the Fayette
County Stormwater Utility”.  The message further called on the Fayette County Board of Commissioners to “terminate
the self-renewing contract between Fayette County, Georgia and Integrated Science and Engineering, Inc.”  


Tom Waller: Mr. Waller congratulated the new Board and thanked them for the opportunity to speak.  He said he looked
forward to transparency in government.  He said he recently received his stormwater bill, and he said while “storms don’t
come, rainwater does.”  He said the issue was rainwater and he asked the County to be transparent on the matter.  He
said his bill came with a return address to the Water System, and he said that was incorrect since the money actually
went to the “tax department” since the bill was an increase to the citizens’ taxes.  He called on the Board to take action
by cancelling the Stormwater Utility, and if additional money was needed then look to increasing taxes.  He again called
on the Board to be transparent by repealing the “Stormwater / Rainwater bill.” 


 CONSENT AGENDA:


No one in the audience spoke about the three Consent Agenda items.  Commissioner McCarty moved to approve the
Consent Agenda.  Commissioners Barlow and Oddo seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed
unanimously.


1. Approval of authorization to sign checks combining any of the following two signatures for transactions
exceeding $5,000.00; Chairman, Vice-Chairman, County Administrator.


2. Approval of authorization to sign checks for transactions $4,999.99 or less:  Chairman, Vice-Chairman,
County Administrator.


3. Approval of the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, and the County Administrator to execute contracts,
resolutions, agreements, and other documents approved by and on behalf of the Board of
Commissioners.







Minutes
January 2, 2013
Page Number 4


NEW BUSINESS:


1. Consideration of adopting the 2013 Board of Commissioners’ Meeting Schedule.


Chairman Brown stated that the staff included the traditional schedule that includes Wednesday Workshop
meetings on the first Wednesday of every month, and that he had added another schedule that does not call
for Wednesday Workshop meetings.  He added that a Wednesday Workshop meeting could be called if
needed.  He commented that he personally found the Workshop meetings did not accomplish much, that the
public was not allowed to speak at Workshop meetings, and that issues were discussed that the
Commissioners did not know much about and had to study after the Workshop Meetings.  He said there would
be better communication with the Board in terms of what would be on the Agenda “well before it gets on the
Agenda”.  He said this would keep the Board from tying up staff for half a day and from paying an Attorney to
sit in a meeting while ideas are discussed that will not be voted on at that time.                               


No other Commissioner and no citizens spoke about this item.  Commissioner McCarty moved to approve the
2013 Board of Commissioners’ Meeting Schedule that does not have the Wednesday Workshop.
Commissioners Ognio and Barlow seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed
unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 1", follows these minutes and is made an official
part hereof.


2. Discussion of Interim County Attorney.


Chairman Brown moved to approve Dennis Davenport as Interim County Attorney.  Commissioner Ognio
seconded the motion.  


Commissioner Oddo reported that he has a relationship with Mr. Davenport and his firm and that he would
recuse himself from the meeting until a vote is taken.  Commissioner Oddo left the meeting.  No other
discussion followed.  


The motion to approve Dennis Davenport as Interim County Attorney passed 4-0-1 with Commissioner Oddo
abstaining from the vote.


Commissioner Oddo returned to the meeting after the vote, and Chairman Brown asked Mr. Davenport to take
his place at staff’s table in order to represent Fayette County as Attorney.


3. Selection of County Administrator.


Chairman Brown stated that the five Commissioners previously vetted applicants for the County Administrator
position out of approximately thirty resumes, that the Human Resources Department recorded and rated each
applicant in order of background and experience, and the five Board members have reviewed that data as well.
He reported that five candidates were selected and interviewed, and he asked Interim County Attorney
Davenport if the Board has the authority to appoint a County Administrator.  Mr. Davenport answered that it was
his opinion that the Board has the authority to appoint a County Administrator.







Minutes
January 2, 2013
Page Number 5


Chairman Brown moved to appoint applicant Steve Rapson as the new County Administrator contingent upon
having a mutually agreeable contract ready to approve by the Board for the January 10, 2013 meeting, and to
direct the County Attorney to meet with Mr. Rapson to assist in developing Mr. Rapson’s contract for
employment.  Commissioner McCarty and Commissioner Oddo seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.
The motion passed unanimously.


Chairman Brown congratulated Mr. Rapson and asked him to take a place at staff’s table.


4. Select Fayette County’s representative for LOST renegotiations.


Commissioner Barlow moved to appoint the Chairman and the County Administrator as Fayette County’s
representative for LOST renegotiations.  Commissioner Ognio seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.
The motion passed unanimously.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 2", follows these minutes
and is made an official part hereof.


5. Consideration of a Fayetteville annexation request for the RaceTrac property at State Route 85 and
Ramah Road.


Community Development Director Pete Frisina briefly updated the Board on the annexation request and
answered questions from the Board.  Mr. Frisina explained that the RaceTrac gas station, located at the corner
of State Route 85 and Ramah Road, has petitioned the City of Fayetteville for annexation in order to “hook into”
the city’s sewer system.  He said the property is already zoned Commercial in the county, is developed fully
as a convenience store, and the petition from the city basically said it would be zoned Commercial and would
remain as is.  


Chairman Brown clarified that petition comes from the relatively new RaceTrac located south of the
Administrative Complex on State Route 85, and Mr. Frisina agreed with Chairman Brown’s understanding.
Chairman Brown also clarified that there was no anticipation that anything would change with the gas station,
and again Mr. Frisina agreed with Chairman Brown’s understanding saying it was just a lateral move that would
allow RaceTrac to hook into the sewage system.


Commissioner Barlow moved to not object to the annexation request.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the
motion. 


Mayor Greg Clifton: Mayor Clifton of Fayetteville, Georgia said the main reason for the annexation request
by RaceTrac was because of problems with their septic system.  He said in order for RaceTrac to tie onto the
city’s sewer system they would have to be annexed into the city. 


The motion to not object to the annexation request passed unanimously.  A copy of the request and an
Executive Summary, identified as “Attachment 3", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.







Minutes
January 2, 2013
Page Number 6


6. Consideration of Resolution 2013-01: Pledge to Citizens and County Staff on Core Values and Beliefs.


Commissioner McCarty read Resolution 2013-01 into the public record.  Resolution 2013-01 reads as follows:


RESOLUTION 2013-01


RESOLUTION OF THE FAYETTE COUNTY COMMISSIONERS


PLEDGE TO CITIZENS AND COUNTY STAFF ON CORE VALUES AND BELIEFS


WHEREAS, upon the inauguration of the 2013 Fayette County Board of Commissioners, the five


commissioners desire to affirm their core values and beliefs to our constituents and


county staff; and


WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners acknowledges they were placed in office by the voters of


Fayette County and are responsible for conducting the official business of those citizens,


looking out for their best interests; and


WHEREAS, the Board is determined to give the citizenry ample opportunity to voice their comments


and concerns in all meetings; and


WHEREAS, the Board respects each individual staff member and believes that members who are


treated with respect and given responsibility respond by giving their best; and


WHEREAS, although there may not be unanimous consent on every issue, the Board requires


complete honesty and integrity in everything we do while valuing everyone’s opinion; and


WHEREAS,  the Board will take its commitments very seriously, and then do its utmost to live up to


them, acknowledging the importance of doing what we say we are going to do; and


 


WHEREAS, the Board recognizes that the work performed by each staff member is an important part


of their life, and it should be fulfilling and rewarding, so we encourage an open and


welcoming workplace; and


WHEREAS, the Board vows to be good stewards of the citizen’s resources, exercising the same


vigilance that we would use to guard and conserve our own personal resources; and


WHEREAS, the Board insists that each commissioner and each staff member always give their best


effort in everything we undertake, refusing to accept sloppiness or lack of effort; and


WHEREAS, the entire Board, each department director and each individual in our organization is


expected to understand our mission and our goals realizing that doing so it is extremely


critical to our success; and


WHEREAS, the Board believes in the Golden Rule, and we will strive to be friendly, courteous, fair


and compassionate in all our dealings; and


WHEREAS,  the Board and our staff members should always feel a sense of urgency on any matters


related to our citizens, owning problems and always being responsive







Minutes
January 2, 2013
Page Number 7


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that we, the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia


do hereby pledge our acceptance of these core values and beliefs in the service of our citizens.


So resolved the 2nd day of January 2013 by the


FAYETTE COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS


Commissioner Oddo moved to approve Resolution 2013-01.  Commissioner McCarty seconded the motion. 
No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.  A copy of the request and Resolution 2013-01,
identified as “Attachment 4", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORTS:


No report was given.


ATTORNEY’S REPORTS:


Mr. Davenport thanked the Chairman and the Board for the privilege of working with the County, and he said he
looked forward to doing the best he could with the upmost of his ability with his firm McNally, Fox, Grant, &
Davenport.  


COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS:


[The following is a full transcript of the discussion of this agenda item as requested by Commissioner Barlow.  This


transcript begins at 7:21:30 of the recording.] 


Chairman Brown: Commissioners’ Report.  Would anyone like to have a Commissioners’ Report?  Mr. Barlow
would you like to start?


Commissioner Barlow: Mr. Chairman, I would.  Giving honor to God, it is my distinct and humble joy to answer the
call to serve my community as a County Commissioner.  Therefore, if any man be in Christ he is a new creation.  Old
things have passed away, behold, Fayette County, all things have become new.  I thank the Honorable Ann Jackson
for being here tonight and officiating our swearing in.  I thank my precious bride and family for attending.  And I
support you, the citizens of Fayette County, who make our community an outstanding place to live, work, and play. 
The journey to become Commissioner began after many months of prayer and seeking God’s will for my life.  Faith,
family, and Fayette County became my campaign slogan.  As I prepared for this evening, I came across a perfect
quote from an esteemed law professor, and I quote:


“Secularists are wrong when they ask believers to leave their religion at the door before entering


into the public square.  Frederick Douglass, Abraham Lincoln, William Jennings Bryant, Dorothy


Day, Martin Luther King, indeed, the majority of great reformers in American history were not only


motivated by faith, but repeatedly used religious language to argue for their cause.  So to say that


men and women should not interject their personal morality into public policy debates is a practical


absurdity.  Our law is by definition a codification of morality, much of it grounded in the Judeo-


Christian tradition.”







Minutes
January 2, 2013
Page Number 8


That law professor went on to become President of the United States Barack Hussein Obama.  So, it is a privilege to
serve, and I take my duties and fiduciary responsibilities very seriously.  I count on my fellow Commissioners, and
you, as citizens, to hold me accountable by being actively engaged and involved in the governance process; calling
on me when you have questions, concerns, or simply to say “David, I appreciate the job you’re doing.”  God bless
America.  God bless Fayette County.  And God bless you.


[The transcript ends at 7:23:50 of the recording.]


Commissioner Randy Ognio: Commissioner Ognio let the audience know what an honor it is to be selected by the
citizens to represent them, and that he is supported not only by the citizens but is also supported by his family, his
wife, his children, his mother and father, his brother, his nieces, and his aunt and uncle.  He added that his mother-
in-law and father-in-law also support him and was in the audience from South Carolina.  He thanked everybody for
coming, he thanked all the elected officials in the audience, and he said he looked forward to doing the best of his
ability for Fayette County.


Commissioner Charles Oddo: Commissioner Oddo thanked everyone for the opportunity to serve.  He said he
could not have done it without his wife’s support and his family’s support.  He said the opportunity is a very humbling
experience and he did not expect to be in this position at this point in time last year. He said he was on the Board to
work for the citizens, and he asked the citizens to help him do a good job.


Commissioner McCarty: Commissioner McCarty thanked everyone for helping him on the “Commission previous to
now. “ He said he was usually on the losing side of most of the votes, and the citizens of Fayette County fixed that
situation.  He said the Board is working on a plan to put the Commission meetings or any public meeting that is held
onto the internet as a live-streamed event, and that it would also be on the local cable channel.  He said a package
would be put together and that it should be implemented within the next month.  


Chairman Steve Brown: Chairman Brown said it was really a privilege to be on the Board with his fellow
Commissioners.  He briefly commented on his each of the Commissioners and thanked them all.  He spoke about
his vision on how the Board of Commissioners would interact with Fayette County.  He thanked his family and his
wife for coming to the meeting and thanked them for everything they have to put up with as part of his being in
elected office.  He closed by giving a final reminder that the Board would have a meal at Broadway Diner and that no
county business would be discussed.


ADJOURNMENT:


Commissioner Barlow moved to adjourn the January 2, 2013 Board of Commissioners meeting.  Commissioner
McCarty seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


The Board of Commissioners adjourned at 7:31 p.m.


___________________________________                               __________________________________________
      Floyd L. Jones, County Clerk                                                     Steve Brown, Chairman


The foregoing minutes were duly approved at an official meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County,
Georgia, held on the 24th day of January 2013.


___________________________________
        Floyd L. Jones, County Clerk





